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KERIM & ADVIJE MEMISOVSKI, by their mother THERESA MEMISOVSKI; LORETTA STURDIVANT; MICHAEL SAMPSON by his mother MICHELLE SAMPSON; and JOSEPH and ADAM HASSAN by their mother MICHELLE HASSAN; all on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, Plaintiffs, vs. BARRY S. MARAM, Director of the Illinois Department of Public Aid and CAROL L. ADAMS, Secretary of the Illinois Department of Human Services, Defendants.


UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS, EASTERN DIVISION


2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16772



August 23, 2004, Decided 


MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

This case is a class action brought on behalf of minor children in Cook County, Illinois who are or will be eligible for the Medical Assistance Program ("Medicaid") established under Title XIX of the Social Security Act. The plaintiffs allege, pursuant to 42 U.S.C, § 1983, that defendants are in violation of the federal Medicaid Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1396 et seq., by failing to ensure (1) that all plaintiffs have pediatric care and services to the extent that such care and services are available to the general population and (2) that plaintiffs are provided early and periodic screening, diagnostic, and treatment ("EPSDT") services. For the reasons set forth below, and based on the evidence received at trial, the court finds that the defendants have been and are in violation of the requirements of the federal Medicaid Act.

I. Introduction
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"Medicaid is a cooperative federal-state program through which the Federal Government provides financial assistance to States so that they may furnish medical care to needy individuals."  [*6]  Wilder v. Virginia Hosp. Ass'n, 496 U.S. 498, 502, 110 L. Ed. 2d 455, 110 S. Ct. 2510 (1990). State participation in Medicaid is voluntary, but if a state chooses to participate in the program, it must comply with the Medicaid Act and its implementing regulations promulgated by the secretary of Health and Human Services. Id. at 502. To qualify for federal assistance, a state is required to submit to the Secretary an approved "plan for medical assistance," which must contain "a comprehensive statement describing the nature and scope of the State's Medicaid program." Id. (citing 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a) and 42 C.F.R. § 430.10).

On March 23, 1992, plaintiffs filed this action alleging that defendants were in violation of the federal Medicaid Act. The case was assigned to the Honorable James B. Zagel. On October 8, 1992, Judge Zagel certified the following class: "All children (persons under the age of 18) in Cook County, Illinois, who, on or after July 1, 1990, have been, are, or will be eligible for the Medical Assistance Program ("Medicaid") established under Title XIX of the Social Security Act." 1 The case was stayed for many years thereafter and, on July 2, 1999, reassigned [*7]  to the Honorable William J. Hibbler. From Judge Hibbler, and pursuant to this court's executive order, the case was reassigned to the undersigned on September 5, 2000.

FOOTNOTES

1 Judge Zagel also certified a separate class of women in Cook County on Medicaid who "have been, are, or will be pregnant." The claims on behalf of this class of pregnant women were voluntarily dismissed on May 29, 2003.


On November 29, 2000, defendants filed a motion to dismiss what was then the plaintiffs' Third Amended Complaint. The defendants argued both that the Eleventh Amendment barred plaintiffs' requested relief and that plaintiffs could not seek redress for any violations of the Medicaid Act under § 1983. That motion was denied by memorandum opinion and order dated October 17, 2001. See Memisovski v. Patla, 2001 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16963, No. 92 C 1982, 2001 WL 1249615 (N.D. III. Oct. 17, 2001). Defendants' Eleventh Amendment argument was rejected because this action seeks only prospective injunctive relief for violations of the federal Medicaid [*8]  Act and does not seek compensatory damages. 2001 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16963, [WL] at *4-5. Concerning defendants' argument that the plaintiffs could not seek redress for any violations under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the court cited and applied the three-factor test established by the Supreme Court in Blessing v. Freestone, 520 U.S. 329, 340, 137 L. Ed. 2d 569, 117 S. Ct. 1353 (1997). Citing cases which had allowed causes of action under § 1983 for violation of the same statutory sections at issue in this case, the court rejected defendants' argument, noting that "defendants have provided no reason why this court should reject the analysis set forth in these cases, which hold that violations of the statutory provisions requiring EPSDT services are redressable through § 1983." 2

FOOTNOTES

2 The court also noted that defendants had failed even to mention the three-factor test at all in their moving papers, 2001 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16963, [WL] at *5.


After denial of defendants' motion to dismiss, the parties conducted extensive discovery for nearly three years.  [*9]  This case was tried to the court during eleven days from May 3, 2004 to May 25, 2004. Based on the evidence received, including the parties' statement of uncontested facts, the exhibits received in evidence and the testimony of the witnesses, the court has weighed the evidence and the credibility of the witnesses and has made findings of fact and conclusions of law, which are discussed in parts III and IV below. First, however, the court considers, in part II below, defendants' argument for judgment on the pleadings.
 
II. Judgment on the Pleadings 3

FOOTNOTES

3 
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A motion for judgment on the pleadings is properly granted when there are no material issues of fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Alexander v. City of Chicago, 994 F.2d 333, 335-36 (7th Cir. 1993).


First in their pre-trial submissions, and again in their post-trial brief, defendants argue that the issue of whether a statute confers enforceable rights under § 1983 has changed since this court's [*10]  memorandum opinion and order on October 17, 2001. Specifically, defendants contend that the Supreme Court's Opinion in Gonzaga University v. Doe, 536 U.S. 273, 153 L. Ed. 2d 309, 122 S. Ct. 2268 (2002), has changed the legal landscape sufficiently for this court to reconsider whether plaintiffs continue to have rights enforceable under § 1983. Because, however, this court's previous ruling that enforceable rights exist under § 1983 is the law of the case, it will not be reconsidered "unless [the Court has] a Strong conviction that the earlier ruling was wrong and the party that benefitted from the earlier ruling would not be unduly harmed." White v. Godinez, 301 F.3d 796, 804 (7th Cir. 2002).

The first specific statutory section of the federal Medicaid Act that plaintiffs assert provides them enforceable rights is located at 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A), which states in relevant part as follows: 
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A State medical plan for assistance must--

***

(30)(A) provide such methods and procedures relating to the utilization of, and the payment for, care and services available under the plan… as may be necessary to safeguard against [*11]  unnecessary utilization of such care and services and to assure that payments are consistent with efficiency, economy, and quality of care and are sufficient to enlist enough providers so that care and services are available under the plan at least to the extent that such care and services are available to the general population in the geographic area;…

The other statutory sections at issue relate to the EPSDT services which are scattered among several portions of the Medicaid Act, including 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(10) and(43), § 1396d(a)(xiii)(4)(B) and (r) (hereinafter collectively referred to as the "EPSDT provisions"): The issue defendants raise after trial is whether, under Gonzaga, § 1396a(a)(30)(A) and the EPSDT provisions provide enforceable rights under 42 U.SC. § 1983 4 to individuals.

FOOTNOTES

4 42 U.S.C. § 1983 provides: 
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Every person who, under color.of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or usage, of any State or Territory or the District of Columbia, subjects, or causes to be subjected, any citizen of the United States or Other person within the jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, of immunities secured by the Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, or other proper proceeding for redress, except that in any action brought against a judicial officer for an act or omission taken in such officer's judicial capacity, injunctive relief shall not be granted unless a declaratory decree was violated or declaratory relief was unavailable. For the purposes of this section, any Act of Congress applicable exclusively to the District of Columbia shall be considered to be a statute of the District of Columbia.




 [*12]  
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There is no question that § 1983 provides a federal remedy for violations not only of the United States Constitution but also for federal statutes as well. Maine v. Thiboutot, 448 U.S. 1, 4, 65 L. Ed. 2d 555, 100 S. Ct. 2502 (1980). To have a cause of action under § 1983 for violation of a federal statute, a plaintiff must first establish that the statute in question gives the plaintiff enforceable rights. Gonzaga University, 536 U.S. at 283 (statute must contain "unambiguously conferred right to support a cause of action brought under § 1983.").
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Because the federal Medicaid Act is a spending statute, see Bruggeman v. Blagojevich, 324 F.3d 906, 911 (7th Cir. 2003), Congress must "speak with a clear voice" and manifest its "unambiguous" intent to confer individual rights before federal funding provisions will be read to provide a basis for private enforcement. Gonzaga University, 122 S. Ct. at 2268 (citing Pennhurst State Sch. & Hosp. v. Halderman, 451 U.S. 1, 17, 28, 67 L. Ed. 2d 694, 101 S. Ct. 1531 & n. 21 (1981)). "In legislation enacted pursuant to the spending power, the typical remedy for state noncompliance with [*13]  federally imposed conditions is not a private cause of action for noncompliance but rather action by the Federal Government to terminate funds to the State." 31 Foster Children v. Bush, 329 F.3d 1255, 1268 (11th Cir. 2003) (citing Pennhurst, 451 U.S. at 28)); see also Bruggeman, 324 F.3d at 911 (noting that different portion of Title XIX of the Social Security Act "cannot be interpreted to create a private right of action, given the Supreme Court's hostility, most recently and emphatically expressed in Gonzaga University v. Doe, 536 U.S. 273, 153 L. Ed. 2d 309, 122 S. Ct. 2268 (2002), to implying such rights in spending statutes.").

In Blessing, 
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the Supreme Court set forth three factors to determine whether a federal statute can be read to confer a right enforceable under § 1983: (1) Congress must have intended that the provisions in question benefit the plaintiff; (2) the plaintiff must demonstrate that the right assertedly protected by the statute is not so "vague and amorphous" that its enforcement would strain judicial competence; and (3) the statute must unambiguously impose a binding obligation on the States imposed [*14]  in mandatory, rather than precatory, terms. 520 U.S. at 340-41. Following Blessing, in Gonzaga the Court clarified that, under the first factor above, a plaintiff may bring suit under § 1983 as an intended beneficiary of a statute only if the statute itself unambiguously demonstrates congressional intent to confer an individual or personal right on that plaintiff. See 536 U.S. at 283 (rejecting notion that cause of action may be inferred "so long as the plaintiff falls within the general zone of interest that the statute is intended to protect" and noting that it is "rights, not the broader or vaguer 'benefits' or 'interests,' that may be enforced under the authority of [§ 1983].") (emphasis in original).

In Gonzaga, the Court dealt with provisions of the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974 ("FERPA"), which prohibits the federal funding of educational institutions that have a policy or practice of releasing education records to unauthorized persons. The specific portion of the FERPA addressed by the Court provided: 

No funds shall be made available under any applicable program to any educational agency or institution [*15]  which has a policy or practice of permitting the release of education records (or personally identifiable information contained therein…) of students without the written consent of their parents to any individual agency, or organization.

20 U.S.C. § 1232g(b)(1). In concluding that this statutory provision was not enforceable under § 1983, the Court noted that the FERPA's nondisclosure provisions "entirely lack the sort of 'rights creating' language critical to showing the requisite congressional intent to create new rights." 536 U.S. at 287.

As a basis for comparison, the Court examined the FERPA's language in light of other statutes where a private right was found, such as Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d ("No person in the United States shall… be subject to discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance…") (emphasis added) and Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. § 1681(a) ("No person in the United States shall, on the basis of sex…") (emphasis added). The Court explained that those statutes are phrased "with [*16]  an unmistakable focus on the benefitted class." Gonzaga University, 536 U.S. at 284 (quoting Cannon v. University of Chicago, 441 U.S. 677, 691, 60 L. Ed. 2d 560, 99 S. Ct. 1946 (1979)). By contrast, the Court characterized the FERPA's language above ("no funds shall be made available" to any "educational agency or institution" which has a prohibited "policy or practice") as "two steps removed from the interest of individual students and parents and clearly, does not confer the sort of 'individual entitlement' that is enforceable under § 1983." Id; see also Alexander v. Sandoval, 532 U.S. 275, 294, 149 L. Ed. 2d 517, 121 S. Ct. 1511 (2001) ("Statutes that focus on the person regulated rather than the individuals protected create 'no implication of an intent to confer rights on a particular class of persons.'") (quoting California v. Sierra Club, 451 U.S. 287, 294, 68 L. Ed. 2d 101, 101 S. Ct. 1775 (1981)).

Moreover, the court further noted that the FERPA's nondisclosure provisions "speak only in terms of institutional policy and practice, not individual instances of disclosure." Gonzaga University, 536 U.S. at 288 (quoting 20 U.S.C. § 1232g(b)(1)-(2) [*17]  , prohibiting funding of"any educational agency or institution which has a policy or practice of permitting the release of education records.") (alteration in original). The FERPA had an "aggregate" focus under which recipient institutions could avoid termination of funding so long as they "comply substantially" with the Act's requirements. Id. at 288; cf Blessing, 520 U.S. at 335 (Title IV-D of Social Security Act failed to support a § 1983 suit because it required only "substantial compliance" with federal regulations).

Finally, the Court noted that its conclusion that the FERPA's nondisclosure provisions failed to confer enforceable rights was "buttressed by the mechanism that Congress chose to provide for enforcing those provisions," including that the FERPA allowed the Secretary of Education to "deal with violations" of the Act and design review boards for investigating and adjudicating any violations. Id. at 289. The Court noted that these administrative review procedures distinguished the FERPA from other statutory sections previously found to confer rights enforceable under § 1983 and supported the Court's conclusion that there was no [*18]  Congressional intent to create individually enforceable private rights under the FERPA. Id.

Bearing in mind the factors to be considered in determining whether a statute confers rights enforceable under § 1983 and considering the Supreme Court's analysis in Gonzaga, this Court will analyze whether rights are enforceable under the sections of the federal Medicaid Act relevant to this action. The court notes, however, that because Gonzaga modified the three-part Blessing analysis only in regard to the first factor, and since Blessing was decided prior to this court's decision that rights are enforceable under the statutory sections at issue (and, indeed, the court cited and applied Blessing in its October 17, 2001 memorandum opinion and order), here the only issue that needs to be revisited is the first factor. Thus, the issue under consideration is under Gonzaga, do 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A) and the EPSDT provisions unambiguously confer rights on plaintiffs supporting a cause of action brought under § 1983. As will be explained below, the answer is yes.

A. 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A)


HN8

 HYPERLINK "https://www.lexis.com/research/retrieve?_m=74d54f0fc207626fb8ebb2182870fc40&_browseType=TEXTONLY&docnum=1&_fmtstr=FULL&_startdoc=1&wchp=dGLbVzW-zSkAz&_md5=ef0611f675243f13df20603eddf0c8ea" \l "clscc8#clscc8" \t "_self" 
The statutory [*19]  section, 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A), referred to as the "equal access" provision, requires a state plan to enlist sufficient providers so that care is available "at least to the extent that such care and services are available to the general population in the geographic area;…." Prior to Gonzaga, the Seventh Circuit specifically allowed providers of medical care to have a private right of action, pursuant to § 1983, to enforce § 1396a(a)(30)(A). Methodist Hospitals, Inc. v. Sullivan, 91 F.3d 1026, 1029 (7th Cir. 1996). The fact that the Seventh Circuit only dealt with providers of medical care, and not recipients as is the case here, is a distinction of no import. The case on which the Seventh Circuit relied, Arkansas Medical Soc'y, Inc. v. Reynolds, 6 F.3d 519 (8th Cir. 1993), specifically allowed suit for both providers and recipients. Id. at 526 ("The equal access provision is indisputably intended to benefit the recipients by allowing equivalent access to health care services."); see also Visiting Nurse Ass'n of N. Shore, Inc. v. Bullen, 93 F.3d 997, 1004 (1st Cir. 1996) [*20]  (allowing suit by both providers and recipients under § 1983 to enforce 1396a(a)(30)(A)). Indeed, cases disagreeing with the conclusion that medical proViders were afforded rights to enforce § 1396a(a)(30)(A) noted that it was recipients, and not providers, who should be afforded such rights. E.g., Pennsylvania Pharmacists Ass'n v. Houstoun, 283 F.3d 531, 544 (3d Cir. 2002) (en banc) (rejecting providers' right to sue under § 1396a(a)(30)(A) and noting that "recipients have sued to enforce Section 30(A), and the other courts of appeals have uniformly held that recipients may assert such claims under § 1983."); Evergreen Presbyterian Ministries, Inc. v. Hood, 235 F.3d 908, 927 (5th Cir. 2000) ("We agree with our sister circuits which have held that recipients are the intended beneficiaries of section 30(A).").

This court has found only two decisions after Gonzaga considering whether recipients have a right of action under § 1983 to sue for violation of § 1396a(a)(30)(A). Compare Sanchez v. Johnson, 301 F. Supp. 2d 1060 (N.D. Cal. 2004) (reconsidering issue after Gonzaga and rejecting that § 1396a(a)(30)(A)  [*21]  provides rights enforceable under § 1983 to recipients) with Clayworth v. Bonta, 295 F. Supp. 2d 1110 (E.D. Cal. 2003) (holding that in § 1396a(a)(30)(A) "Congress created rights to quality care and equal access that may be enforced by Medicaid recipients under § 1983.") 5

FOOTNOTES

5 Most courts after Gonzaga have stated that providers do not have enforceable rights under § 1396a(a)(30)(A). See, e.g., Long Term Care Pharmacy Alliance v. Ferguson, 362 F.3d 50, 58-59 (1st Cir. 2004); In re NYAHSA Litig.,-F. Supp. 2d-, 2004 WL 1126348, at *9 (N.D.N.Y. May 20, 2004); Burlington United Methodist Family Servs. Inc. v. Atkins, 227 F. Supp. 2d 593, 595-96 (S.D.W.V. 2002). But see, AARM v. Minnesota Comm'r of Human Servs., 2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 15056, No. 03-2438, 2003 WL 22037719, at *7-8 (D. Minn. Aug. 29, 2003).


The defendants argue that § 1396a(a)(30)(A) does not unambiguously demonstrate congressional intent to confer individual or personal [*22]  rights on plaintiffs because (1) plaintiffs are not the intended beneficiaries of the statute insofar as the Statute pertains only to what a State's Title XIX plan should contain to satisfy federal law; (2) the statute is not phrased in terms of the persons benefitted; and (3) the statute has only an aggregate focus and does not deal with individual rights.

Most of defendants' arguments, however, fail based on another portion of the federal Medicaid Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-2. That statutory section provides: 
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In an action brought to enforce a provision of this chapter, such provision is not deemed unenforceable because of its inclusion in a section of this chapter requiring a State plan or specifying the required contents of a State plan. This Section is not intended to limit or expand the grounds for determining the availability of private action to enforce State plan requirements other than by overturning any such grounds applied in Suter v. Artist M., 503 U.S. 347, 112 S. Ct. 1360, 118 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1992), but not applied in prior Supreme Court decisions respecting such enforceability; provided, however, that this section is [*23]  not intended to alter the holding in Suter v. Artist M. that section 671 (a)(15) of this title is not enforceable in a private right of action.

This section was passed in 1994 after the Supreme Court's decision in Suter v. Artist M, 503 U.S. 347, 118 L. Ed. 2d 1, 112 S. Ct. 1360 (1992). The Court in Suter held that § 671(a)(15) of the Adoption Act was unenforceable by a private person in part because that section merely required states to have a plan that contained a specific provision requiting states to make certain reasonable efforts. Id. at 358-59. As the plain language of § 1320a-2 illustrates, it was enacted to overrule Suter in part. 6 See Messier v. Southbury Training Sch., 916 F. Supp. 133, 144 (D. Conn. 1996) ("The fairest reading of Section 1320a-2 is that Congress was concerned only that a court should not eviscerate an Otherwise enforceable right merely because it appears in a statute mandating that participating states include a particular provision in their state plans.").

FOOTNOTES

6 Language identical to that of § 1320a-2 is contained in another statutory section, 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-10. This court is unaware of why this is so and, as one court has theorized, it may in fact.be a mistake. See Clayworth, 295 F. Supp. 2d at 1120 ("These statutes are identically worded, and the fact that there are two such statutes is probably a mistake.").


 [*24]  
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Based on § 1320a-2, § 1396a(a)(30)(A) will not be deemed unenforceable simply because it only elaborates on what a state plan must include. Other courts have reached similar conclusions applying this and other portions of the federal Medicaid Act. See Clayworth, 295 F. Supp. 2d at 1121 (in private action to enforce § 1396a(a)(30)(A), relying on § 1320a-2 to conclude that "the court will not consider that an individual entitlement is absent simply because the wording of the statute is directed to the required contents of a state plan as opposed to the tights of a beneficiary or provider under a plan."); see also, Rabin v. WilSon-Coker, 362 F.3d 190, 201 (2d Cir. 2004) (in. an action brought under a separate portion of the Medicaid Act, noting that § 1320a-2 "precludes defendant from relying on the plan requirement language of Section 1396r-6" to support claim that no enforceable rights were present in that statute).

Several other considerations persuade the court that § 1396a(a)(30)(A)confers rights on plaintiffs enforceable pursuant to § 1983. Initially, the requirement of equal access is not phrased in indirect terms "such as requiting [*25]  a general policy or requiring substantial compliance." Clayworth, 295 F. Supp. 2d at 1123. As the Clayworth court observed, if the Statutory section were phrased indirectly or in more general terms (such as in Gonzaga and Blessing), "that might suggest that no single beneficiary is entitled to quality care or equal access." Id. at 1123. Instead, the requirements of equal access are phrased in mandatory and not precatory language. See Sabree v. Richman, 367 F.3d 180, 190 (3d Cir. 2004) (citing Blessing, 520 U.S. at 341). States "must" have a plan that affords equal access and there can be no dispute that the access provisions directly benefit recipients, as several circuit courts have found. Pennsylvania Pharmacists, 283 F.3d at 537; Evergreen Presbyterian Ministries, 235 F.3d at 928-29. In addition, dissimilar to the statute in Gonzaga, the court has not been presented with anything suggesting that administrative procedures exist through which recipients can seek equal access to health care. Through § 1396a(a)(30)(A), a mandatory obligation was imposed on states and [*26]  no administrative mechanism was formulated so as to ensure compliance with this obligation. This further weighs in favor of a private right of action to enforce this statutory section under § 1983. 7

FOOTNOTES

7 There is also legislative history supporting a private right of action for recipients to enforce § 1396a(a)(30)(A) under § 1983. In 1997, Congress repealed the Boren Amendment, which required states to pay providers rates that "the State finds, and makes assurances satisfactory to the Secretary, are reasonable and adequate to meet the costs which must.be incurred by efficiently and economically operated facilities in order to provide care and services in conformity with applicable State and Federal law." Wilder v. Virginia Hosp. Ass'n, 496 U.S. 498, 503, 110 L. Ed. 2d 455, 110 S. Ct. 2510 (1990). In repealing the Boren Amendment, legislative history evinces Congress' intent only to end provider suits. See H.R. Rep. No. 105-149, at 590 (1997) ("It is the Committee's intention that, following enactment of this Act, neither this nor any other provision of [42 U.S.C. § 1396a] will be interpreted as establishing a cause of action for hospitals and nursing facilities relative to the adequacy of the rates they receive."). Conversely, in passing an amendment to § 1396a(a)(30)(A) in 1981, Congress noted that "in instances where the States or the Secretary fail to observe these statutory requirements, the courts would be expected to take appropriate remedial action." H.R. Rep. No. 97-158, at 301 (1981). As several courts have noted, this implies that Congress intended some class of plaintiffs, most likely recipients, to be able to enforce the provisions of § 1396a(a)(30)(A) by private suit under § 1983. E.g., Pennslyvania Pharmacists, 283 F.3d at 540-41 ; Clayworth, 295 F. Supp. 2d at 1123.


 [*27]  The court acknowledges that the language of § 1396a(a)(30)(A) is not similar to the typical rights creating language in, for.example, Title VI. However, as one court has noted, it is "difficult, if not impossible, as a linguistic matter, to distinguish the import of the relevant Title XIX language-'A State plan must provide'-from the 'No person shall' language of Titles VI and IX." Sabree, 367 F.3d at 190. Indeed, as another court has observed, since the structure of § 1396a(a) lists the general requirements that a state plan must meet, that structure "largely prevented Congress from using the sort of 'no person shall' language cited by the Gonzaga Court." Clayworth, 295 F. Supp. 2d at 1122. That would, perhaps, be why Congress enacted § 1320a-2, to ensure that direction to include certain provisions in a state plan does not preclude a private action enforceable under § 1983.

Finally, the court finds further support for the conclusion that § 1396a(a)(30)(A) provides enforceable rights to plaintiffs in cases where the Supreme Court has already found such enforceable rights. In Wilder, the Court considered whether the now repealed Boren [*28]  Amendment conferred enforceable rights on medical providers. The specific portion of the Boren Amendment provided that 

a State plan for medical assistance must-
 
***
 
provide … for payment … of the hospital services, nursing facility services and services in an intermediate care facility for the mentally retarded provided under the plan through the use of rates … which the State finds, and makes assurances satisfactory to the Secretary, are reasonable and adequate to meet the costs which must be incurred by efficiently and economically operated facilities in order to provide care and services in conformity with applicable State and Federal law, regulations and quality and safety standards, and to assure that individuals eligible for medical assistance have reasonable access … to inpatient hospital services of adequate quality.

Wilder, 496 U.S. at 502, 110 S. Ct. at 2514 (citing 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(13)(A) (1982 ed. Supp. V)) (emphasis in original.)

The Wilder Court concluded that this statutory provision did confer enforceable rights on medical providers because (1) it was cast in mandatory rather than precatory terms and (2)  [*29]  the receipt of federal funds was expressly conditioned on compliance with the Amendment. Id. at 513. In Gonzaga, the Court made clear that it was not overruling Wilder, and explained that case by stating that the Boren Amendment "explicitly conferred specific monetary entitlements upon the plaintiffs." 536 U.S. at 280 (discussing Wilder and noting that "Congress left no doubt of its intent for private enforcement, we said, because the provision required States to pay an 'objective' monetary entitlement to individual health care providers, with no sufficient administrative means of enforcing the requirements against States that failed to comply.").

In light of Wilder, which other courts have noted is still good law, see Sabree, 367 F.3d at 192, § 1396a(a)(30)(A) 
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must provide a private right of action enforceable under § 1983. The structure and language of the two statutes are nearly identical, and each focuses on mandatory obligations a state plan must meet. See Sabree, 367 F.3d at 192 ("Our confidence in this conclusion rests securely on the fact that the Court has refrained from overruling Wright [v. Roanoke Redevelopment & Housing Auth., 479 U.S. 418, 93 L. Ed. 2d 781, 107 S. Ct. 766 (1987)] [*30]  8 and Wilder, which upheld the exercise of individual rights under statutes that contain similar (or, in the case of Wilder, identical) provisions to 42 U.S.C. § 1396."). If a private right of action was allowed in Wilder, there is no principled basis to say that a private right of action is unavailable in this case. 9

FOOTNOTES

8 Wright dealt with a rent ceiling provision imposed under the Brooke Amendment to the Housing Act of 1937. The Court concluded that a private right of action under § 1983 was available because the provision unambiguously conferred "a mandatory [benefit] focusing on the individual family and its income." 479 U.S. at 430. The;statute at issue provided "[a] family shall pay as rent for a dwelling unit assisted under this chapter… the highest of the following amounts …. " 42 U.S.C. § 1437a.

9 In Sanchez v. Johnson, the court stated that under § 1396a(a)(30)(A) there is no "specific monetary entitlement conferred upon.Medicaid recipients …. " 301 F. Supp. 2d at 1064. Thus, the court concluded that "there is no rights-creating language in § 30(A) bestowing an enforceable right upon Plaintiffs." Id. There is no doubt that there is no objective "monetary entitlement" in § 1396a(a)(30)(A), but this court finds that distinction irrelevant. What § 1396a(a)(30)(A) does provide is an objective entitlement to access, that being equal access to quality medical care.


 [*31]  Thus, for all of the above reasons, the court concludes that § 1396a(a)(30)(A) does confer individual rights on plaintiffs which are enforceable pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

B. EPSDT Provisions

As noted above, the EPSDT provisions are located in several different portions of the federal Medicaid Act 
HN12

 HYPERLINK "https://www.lexis.com/research/retrieve?_m=74d54f0fc207626fb8ebb2182870fc40&_browseType=TEXTONLY&docnum=1&_fmtstr=FULL&_startdoc=1&wchp=dGLbVzW-zSkAz&_md5=ef0611f675243f13df20603eddf0c8ea" \l "clscc12#clscc12" \t "_self" 
Under 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(10), a state Medicaid plan "must" provide for "making medical assistance available, including at least the care and services listed in… section 1396(a) of this title." (Emphasis added.) Section 1396d(a) defines the term "medical assistance" to include "early and periodic screening, diagnostic, and treatment services (as defined in subsection (r) Of this section) for individuals who are eligible under the plan and are under the age of 21 …" 42 U.S.C. § 1396d(a)(xiii)(4)(B). The EPSDT services are defined in § 1396d(r)(1)-(4) and include, among other things, screening, vision, dental and heating services. Moreover, under § 1396a(a)(43), a state Medicaid plan "must" also provide for 
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(A) informing all persons in the State who are under the age of 21 and who have [*32]  been determined to be eligible for medical assistance… of the availability of early and periodic screening, diagnostic, find treatment Services as, described in section 1396d(r) of this title and the need for age-appropriate immunizations against vaccine-preventable diseases,

(B) providing or arranging for the provision of such screening services in all cases where they are requested,

(C) arranging for (directly or through referral to appropriate agencies, organizations, or individuals) corrective treatment the need for which is disclosed by such child health screening services, and

(D) reporting to the Secretary… the following information relating to early and periodic screening, diagnostic; and treatment services provided under the plan during each fiscal year:

(i) the number of children provided child health screening services,

(ii) the number of children referred for corrective treatment (the need for which is disclosed by such child screening services),

(iii) the number of children receiving dental services, and

(iv) the State's results in attaining the participation goals set for the State under section 1396d(r) of this title.



Prior to Gonzaga, the Seventh [*33]  Circuit had allowed suit under § 1983 to enforce certain EPSDT provisions. See Miller by Miller v. Whitburn, 10 F.3d 1315, 1319-20 (7th Cir. 1993); Bond v. Stanton, 655 F.2d 766 (7th Cir. 1981); see also, Pediatric Specialty Care, Inc. v. Arkansas Dep't of Human Servs., 293 F.3d 472, 479 (8th Cir. 2002); Westside Mothers v. Haveman, 289 F.3d 852, 862-63 (6th Cir. 2002). One other circuit court has disagreed at least in part. See Frazar v. Gilbert, 300 F.3d 530, 545 (5th Cir. 2002) rev 'd on other grounds sub nom Frew v. Hawkins, U.S. ,540 U.S. 431, 157 L. Ed. 2d 855, 124 S. Ct. 899 (2004) (although noting that relief under § 1983 for a Violation of EPSDT provisions "may be available," holding "that plaintiffs cannot sue under § 1983 to require a plan to meet statewide or Systemwide participation or performance measures, because, under Blessing, state compliance with such standards is not an individualized right actionable under § 1983"). In the October 17, 2001 memorandum opinion and order, this court cited several other cases which had allowed suit under § 1983 [*34]  to enforce the EPSDT provisions. See DaJour B. v. New York, 2001 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 10251, No. 00 CIV 2044 (JGK), 2001 WL 830674, at *8 (S.D.N.Y. July 23, 2001); Salazar v. District of Columbia, 954 F. Supp. 278, 324 n.92 (D.D.C. 1996); Wellington V. District of Columbia, 851 F. Supp. 1, 6 (D.D.C 1994); New York City Coalition to End Lead Poisoning v. Giuliani, 187 Misc. 2d 425, 720 N.Y.S. 2d 298, 301 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2000).

After Gonzaga, the court has found only a few cases addressing this .issue, and most have stated that the EPSDT provisions are enforceable by private right of action under § 1983. See Kenny A. ex rel. Winn v. Perdue, 218 F.R.D. 277, 293-94 (N.D. Ga. 2003); Collins v. Hamilton, 231 F. Supp. 2d 840, 846-47 (S.D. Ind. 2002) 10; S.D.v. Hood, 2002 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 23535, No. Civ. A 02-2164, 2002 WL 31741240, at *4-6 (E.D. La. Dec. 5, 2002).

FOOTNOTES

10 The Seventh Circuit affirmed the Collins decision at 349 F.3d 371 (7th Cir. 2003). There is no discussion as to whether the EPSDT provisions afford enforceable rights under § 1983. This court is unable to conclude that the Seventh Circuit's silence on the subject can be construed as precedent.


 [*35]  Defendants argue that, after Gonzaga, these EPSDT provisions cannot afford rights enforceable under § 1983 for many of the same reasons they claimed above. First, defendants state that these provisions only concern the requirements of a state's Medicaid plan and, moreover, only describe the elements that must be included in a Title XIX state plan. This argument fails based on the court's discussion of § 1320a-2. That statutory section would apply with equal force to the EPSDT provisions and, accordingly, that the EPSDT provisions speak only in terms of what a plan must include and do not focus on the person benefitted does not render these EPSDT provisions unenforceable by private action.

Defendants also argue that the EPSDT provisions do not confer any specific monetary or Other entitlement on the plaintiffs. True, there is no monetary entitlement at issue in these provisions, but that is irrelevant. The court disagrees with defendants' characterization that no entitlements are otherwise presented in these provisions. First, the EPSDT provisions themselves defined in § 1396d(r)are considered "medical assistance' and, therefore, "must be provided" in a state's plan. Moreover,  [*36]  § 1396a(a)(43) provides several specific entitlements that plaintiffs "must" be provided, including (1) that they are informed of the availability of periodic screening, diagnostic, and treatment services and the need for age-appropriate immunizations against vaccine preventable diseases, (2) that they are provided arrangement of screening services in all cases where they have been requested, and (3) that they are provided arrangement for corrective treatment when disclosed by a child health screen. Notice once again the language in all of these EPSDT provisions is mandatory and not precatory. Moreover, similar to above, the court has not been presented with any administrative mechanisms to enforce these specific EPSDT entitlements afforded On plaintiffs. Rights are provided under these provisions, and no avenue is presented to vindicate these rights. Finally, similar to the argument above, the language contained in the EPSDT provisions is nearly identical to that of Wilder and no reason exists to distinguish this case so long as Wilder remains good law.

Defendants, in response, suggest that this court should rely on the Fifth Circuit's decision in Frazar. The court in [*37]  Frazar interpreted the EPSDT provisions and, while seemingly acknowledging that individuals could in some circumstances vindicate rights provided under the EPSDT requirements, see 300 F.3d at 544, noted that no actionable individual rights were afforded by a state's "failure to meet… a participation goal or other systemwide performance standard" under the EPSDT requirements. Id. at 545. The Frazar court noted that the district court lacked "the power to impose systemwide standards under § 1983, since such standards do not give rise to individual rights." This conclusion conflicts with the holdings of cases cited by this court in its October 17, 2001 memorandum opinion and order. See, e.g., DaJour B., 2001 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 10251, 2001 WL 830674, at *9-10; see also, Pediatric Specialty Care, Inc., 293 F.3d at 479 (holding that EPSDT provisions imposed a binding obligation on states "to create a state plan that includes the provision of EPSDT services" and that this requirement was not "so ambiguous or amorphous that its enforcement strains judicial competence."). Insofar as Frazar was decided before Gonzaga, and as a result  [*38]  Gonzaga did not influence the Frazar decision, the court simply sees no reason to find Frazar more persuasive than the cases previously relied on. Furthermore, Frazar would also appear in conflict with precedent binding on this court which has allowed actions seeking modification of state Medicaid plans that do not sufficiently implement EPSDT. provisions. Bond, 655 F.2d at 768-69. Defendants' argument on this ground, therefore, must be rejected.

Thus, for the reasons stated above, the court concludes that the EPSDT provisions also confer individual rights on plaintiffs which may be enforced pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983.


[See Background readings for Findings of Fact omitted here]


IV. Conclusions of Law 15

FOOTNOTES

15 Citations to the Findings of Facts are abbreviated as "FOF."


A. Equal Access

As noted above, 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A) requires that a state Medicaid plan enlist sufficient providers such that care is available "at least to the extent that such care and services are available to the general population in the geographic area . . . ." Plaintiffs' argument that the defendants have violated this "equal access" provision has three components: (1) the law requires that Medicaid reimbursement rates paid to health care providers be sufficient to provide Medicaid recipients access to health care equal to that of the generally insured population; (2) the arbitrary and capricious manner in which the defendants set reimbursement rates has resulted in rates that are far too low to result in equal access to care; and (3) plaintiffs endure obstacles to finding care not faced by privately insured patients [*124]  and, as a result, the health problems they experience are both more acute and more preventable.

Prior to trial the court ruled that
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 in determining whether equal access to medical care exists, the relevant population for purposes of this comparison is the insured population and does not include the uninsured.Arkansas Medical Soc'y. Inc., 6 F.3d at 527 ("To suggest that Congress appropriated vast sums of money and enacted a huge bureaucratic structure to ensure that recipients of the federal Medicaid program have equivalent access to medical services as their uninsured neighbors (i.e. close to none) is ridiculous."); H.R. Rep. No. 1010-247, 101st Cong., 1st Sess. 390 (1989) reprinted in 1989 U.S.C.C.A.N. 2060, 2116 ("compare the access of beneficiaries to the access of other individuals in the same geographic area with public or private coverage . . . .") (emphasis added).
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In determining whether equal access to medical services exists, at least one court has looked at a variety of factors including (1) the level of reimbursement to participating physicians in the market and the costs of providing such services; (2) the level of physician participation in the Medicaid [*125]  program; (3) whether there are reports that recipients are having difficulty obtaining care; (4) whether the rate at which Medicaid recipients utilize healthcare services is lower than the rates at which the generally insured population uses those services; and (5) whether defendants have admitted that reimbursement rates are inadequate. See Clark v. Kizer, 758 F. Supp. 572, 576 (E.D. Cal. 1990) aff'd in relevant part sub nom, Clark v. Coye, 967 F.2d 585 (9th Cir. 1992). As will be seen, while these factors are not addressed seriatim, nearly all are incorporated into the analysis below.

The starting point for the issue of equal access must be the rates Illinois Medicaid pays to medical providers for providing services to Medicaid patients.
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 Rates and equal access simply cannot be divorced. The Seventh Circuit contemplated as much in Methodist Hospitals when it noted that states "may behave like other buyers of goods and services in the marketplace: They may say what they are willing to pay and see whether this brings forth an adequate supply. If not, the state may (and under § 1396a(a)(30), must) raise the price until the market clears." 91 F.3d at 1030. [*126]  The court in Methodist Hospitals made clear that for a state to satisfy the "equal access" provision its rates need only "produce a result, not . . . employ any particular methodology for getting there." 91 F.3d at 1030 (emphasis in original). Thus, looking only at the end result of equal access, the court does not consider whether rates are set in an arbitrary and capricious manner. The relevant inquiry, as Methodist Hospitals suggests, is whether the rate paid by the IDPA is sufficient to enlist enough providers so that plaintiffs have equal access to medical services. 16 The evidence plaintiffs brought forth in this case, which takes a number of forms, conclusively establishes that the rates paid by the Illinois Medicaid program are insufficient to entice medical providers to provide services to Medicaid patients. These rate payments, along with other considerations discussed below, show that the Medicaid recipients do not have "equal access" to medical services.

FOOTNOTES

16 The case on which plaintiffs rely for the argument that arbitrary and capricious rate setting violates the equal access provision is Rite Aid of Penn. v. Houstoun, 171 F.3d 842, 852 (3d Cir. 1999). That case expressed disagreement with the Seventh Circuit's approach in Methodist Hospitals allowing states to behave like other buyers of goods in setting their market rates. The Third Circuit noted that "we decline to adopt that approach because ordinarily, at least, a state may not act arbitrarily and capriciously, although other actors in the market may do so if they choose." Id. at 852. Needless to say, Methodist Hospitals is the precedent binding on this court, and that case makes clear that the only relevant inquiry is the result and not the methodology for getting there. 91 F.3d at 1030.


 [*127]  The court begins with the expert report and testimony of Dr. Flint. Dr. Flint surveyed the literature published in the medical field and opined that rates paid for providing services to Medicaid-enrolled patients is the factor that most influences a physician's decision whether, and to what extent, to treat Medicaid patients. (FOF PP 28-29.) Moreover, he researched the amount paid under Medicaid and compared it to rates paid under Medicare and private insurance in Cook County. (FOF PP 15-20.) Dr. Flint's analysis showed that Medicaid's reimbursement rates are far below those of other payers in the market. (Id.) Indeed, his analysis showed that Medicaid, at most, paid 55% of the rate that Medicare paid for the same service. (Id.) If Medicaid paid only 55% of the Medicare rate, the Medicaid rate was even a lower percentage of the rates paid by private insurance, which the testimony showed was greater than the rate paid by Medicare. (Id.)

As part of his analysis Dr. Flint also analyzed a physician's cost of overhead, meaning the cost of operating a practice before there is any compensation for the physicians in the practice. (FOF P 19.) Dr. Flint's analysis noted that current [*128]  Medicaid rates would not even cover a physician's cost of overhead. (Id.) Dr. Flint's testimony and his report were persuasive evidence that the rates Illinois Medicaid pays simply do not entice medical providers to participate in Medicaid and, therefore, fails to afford plaintiffs equal access to medical care. If rates are the most important factor in determining whether and to what extent to see Medicaid patients, and if Medicaid pays significantly lower than other payer types, then it follows, as Dr. Flint testified, that insufficient access for Medicaid recipients "should be expected" in Cook County. (FOF P 20.) Dr. Flint's conclusions were not rebutted. The State's expert, Todd Menenberg, did not consider Dr. Flint's analysis and did not present a competing analysis of a doctor's costs to practice or the level of reimbursement rates compared to other payers in Cook County. 17

FOOTNOTES

17 The court, in a pretrial ruling in limine, barred Mr. Menenberg from opining on the level of reimbursement rates at trial for three reasons. First, in his expert report Mr. Menenberg considered the uninsured in his opinion on equal access. As noted above, the appropriate measure of equal access is based on the insured population in the geographic area. Second, Mr. Menenberg only compared Illinois' Medicaid rates to rates set by a selected group of other states. Doctors in Illinois, however, would not consider Medicaid rates set by these other states in considering whether to serve children covered by Medicaid in Cook County. They would, instead, look to what other payers in Cook County are paying. Mr. Menenberg's report also provided no analysis confirming that these other states were, in fact, providing equal access to Medicaid recipients as required under federal law. Finally, while Mr. Menenberg took issue with any comparison between Medicaid rates and Medicare rates, he admitted that he was unaware of how Medicare rates are set. The evidence at trial established that Medicare rates are, in fact, highly relevant in setting rates of all kind, and any opinion to the contrary is based on a misunderstanding of how rates for medical services are established. (FOF P 16.)


 [*129]  Dr. Flint's analysis in his report and his trial testimony were persuasively supported by extensive trial testimony from numerous medical providers. This included testimony from Drs. Rosenberg, Krug, Lelyveld, Jurado, Green, Abelson and Newman. Combined, these doctors serve all portions of Cook County. The doctors each confirmed Dr. Flint's opinions that reimbursement rates for pediatric care (1) are insufficient to cover overhead costs; (2) result in significant losses for doctors and hospital pediatric departments and clinics with a significant volume of Medicaid patients; and (3) render providers unable to meet the demands of the Medicaid populations they serve. (FOF PP 19-24, 27, 30-31, 37, 39.)

The doctors' testimony did not relate solely to rates, and numerous other portions of their testimony is persuasive in establishing that plaintiffs do not have equal access to medical care. Testimony showed that Medicaid-enrolled children face conditions such as longer waiting times for care (FOF PP 41, 50, 53), a more limited population of providers willing to provide care (FOF PP 47-49), and multiple trips to the doctor for services which could be addressed in one visit. (FOF P 22.)  [*130]  All in all, the doctors painted a picture of Medicaid-enrolled patients being afforded a significantly lesser degree of access to care than that enjoyed by privately-insured children.

Two doctors, Dr. Krug, head of the emergency room at Children's Memorial Hospital, and Dr. Lelyveld, from the University of Chicago hospitals' pediatric emergency room, each testified that Medicaid-insured children do not have access to primary care equal to that of privately-insured patients. (FOF P 60.) Dr. Krug testified that the access of Medicaid-enrolled children is "vastly diminished" and "not remotely close" to that of privately-insured children. (Id.)

Drs. Krug and Lelyveld also testified that Medicaid-enrolled pediatric patients are more likely to have no primary care provider than privately-insured patients. (FOF P 51.) Several of the physicians testified that doctors will either not see Medicaid-insured children at all or will significantly limit the number of Medicaid-enrolled children they will accept. (FOF P 47.) All of the physicians testified that when they attempt to refer patients for pediatric specialty care, it is far more difficult to find a doctor willing to accept a referral [*131]  for a Medicaid-enrolled child than it is for a privately-insured child. (FOF P 49.)

There was also testimony by the physicians that the health problems of children on Medicaid are of a different degree than children with private insurance and are indicative of a population without access to a medical home where they can receive anticipatory guidance, preventive care and early diagnosis. (FOF PP 32, 50-53.) Dr. Krug testified that Medicaid patients in the emergency room frequently come in with conditions that privately-insured patients do not typically have and which reflect a lack of primary care, including untreated bone fractures or advanced asthmatic conditions. (FOF P 50.) In addition to asthma, Dr. Lelyveld also included gastroenteritis, flu and diabetes as other conditions frequently presented with more aggravated or serious symptoms by Medicaid-enrolled children as a result of lack of primary care. (Id.) Indeed, many of the physicians testified that Medicaid children frequently use the emergency room as a source of primary care because they simply have nowhere else to go. (FOF P 52.)

The physicians testifying at trial also brought forth persuasive evidence concerning non-rate [*132]  factors that would influence a doctor's decision to open his or her practice to Medicaid patients. Dr. Flint noted that these non-rate factors have been dubbed as Medicaid "hassles" in medical literature. (FOF P 22.) Some of these so-called Medicaid hassles are, perhaps, predictable. For example, each physician testified that Medicaid has a very long payment cycle, which was identified as an important factor in determining whether to participate in the Medicaid program. (FOF P 21.) Moreover, many physicians testified that IDPA would arbitrarily reject Medicaid claims and had instituted billing policies and developed forms that served as a disincentive for provider participation. (FOF P 22.) Other Medicaid hassles discussed at trial ranged from the bizarre to the irrational. Dr. Krug testified that Medicaid had "disenrolled" him from its provider database for no reason, despite the fact that he provides care to thousands of Medicaid-enrolled children every year. (d.) Several other doctors testified that the IDPA refused to pay providers for more than one service per day, regardless of the number of services that a child needs or receives. (Id.) As explained in an example by [*133]  Dr. Krug, "You know, a kid falls off the monkey bar and hits his head, and, you know, that is a concern. He has also lacerated his knee. That needs to be done as well. We can and should bill for both of those services, but we'll only get paid [by Medicaid] for one of them." (Krug. Trial Tr. at 276:19-25.) Defendants have asserted no conceivable medical reason for such a policy, and no argument was or can be made that a similar restriction was encountered by physicians when they seek Medicare or private insurance payments. These hassles provide evidence supporting that a physician would simply choose not to see Medicaid patients rather than deal with the hassles.

The testimony of these doctors was not rebutted and is highly persuasive in establishing the level of access provided to Medicaid recipients. Defendants, in response to this testimony, argue that it only establishes that medical professionals want higher reimbursement rates from the IDPA. To the extent that this argument suggests that the witnesses were biased and, therefore, that the court should place little weight on their testimony, such argument is rejected. The court observed the testimony of these doctors and did [*134]  not notice even a hint of bias. Each doctor was a highly trained medical professional who had dedicated his life to the provision of medical services to children. Their testimony made abundantly clear that their interest was in the health and well-being of children.

The testimony of the medical providers, along with Dr. Flint's expert report and trial testimony, was corroborated by evidence presented by certain Medicaid recipients. Six Medicaid recipients testified at trial as to their actual experiences attempting to find primary care doctors or specialists who accepted Medicaid for their children. None of these witnesses were able to access medical care in a manner equal to that of the generally-insured population. (FOF PP 53-55.)Several of the witnesses were in the unique position of being able to compare their experiences in finding doctors to treat their children covered under Medicaid with their experiences finding doctors to treat their children covered under private insurance. (FOF P 55(e), (f) & (g).) As these witnesses testified, obtaining medical services for their children covered under private insurance was not a difficult task, while attempting to obtain care for their [*135]  children covered under Medicaid was a much more difficult and frustrating process. (Id.) These witnesses also testified in detail that State programs designed to provide assistance for finding doctors were unhelpful and they were not able to locate doctors on their own. (FOF PP 53, 54,55(a) & (b).)

Once again, the defendants have not effectively rebutted any of the above evidence. As plaintiffs point out, the defendants have no knowledge regarding the state of access for Medicaid-enrolled children in Cook County and have never tried to learn what the level of access might be. Employees of the IDPA freely admit that rates are low and not very attractive and are set without regard to the effect such rate-setting will have on access, even though they acknowledge that an increase in rates would increase the number of providers who would participate in the Medicaid program. (FOF PP 10, 56, 57, 59.) At trial there was evidence presented of the raw number of providers who are "enrolled" in Medicaid, but the court agrees with plaintiffs that this does not establish equal access. All a provider needs to do to become enrolled is to fill out a form. (FOF P 45.) There is no obligation to [*136]  treat even a single Medicaid patient and the provider would remain enrolled so long as he or she billed Medicaid once for a service over an 18-month period. (FOF P 152.) These very same doctors that may have enrolled in Medicaid may be unwilling to accept new Medicaid patients or may have stopped seeing Medicaid patients entirely within the last 18 months.

Contrary to this analysis of raw numbers of providers enrolled in Medicaid, plaintiffs presented an analysis by Dr. Darling which attempted to analyze how many doctors provide a service (specifically well-child examinations) to Medicaid-enrolled children in Cook County. Dr. Darling first looked at all doctors who billed at least one service of any kind for a Medicaid-enrolled child during the three and one-half year period from July 31, 1998 to December 31, 2001. (FOF P 74, 76.) He determined that 10,494 doctors billed IDPA for at least one service provided to a Medicaid-enrolled child in Cook County between the ages of 10 days and 18 years, and 7,131 doctors billed IDPA for a service provided to a child between the ages of 10 days and 7 years. (FOF P 46.) Dr. Darling's analysis also showed that over a 31/2 year period more than [*137]  half of these doctors never provided even a single well-child examination and that the vast majority of well-child services are billed by only a very small minority of the doctor community. (Id.) As this analysis suggests, only a small subset of doctors provide significant levels of well-child services to plaintiffs and reliance on the enrolled doctors as an indicator of access to care creates an overstated picture.

While the court will address below in the EPSDT portion of this opinion Mr. Menenberg's disagreements with Dr. Darling's methodology, for purposes here Mr. Menenberg did not undercut Dr. Darling's analysis. In fact, Mr. Menenberg's analysis supports Dr. Darling's conclusions in this regard. Dr. Darling analyzed mainstream providers of medical care while Mr. Menenberg also included "safety net" care provides such as FQHCs and public health clinics. Under Mr. Menenberg's analysis there were 11,767 providers who had provided a well-child examination in the relevant time period using the broader IDPA definition of a well-child exam (only 4,266 provided an HMHK. exam). (Def. Ex. 1 at 19-22.) According to Mr. Menenberg, based on this number of providers, each provider would [*138]  have to serve "approximately 87 children" which, in his estimation, gives plaintiffs sufficient access to medical care. But Mr. Menenberg also showed that more than half of all these providers serving Medicaid-enrolled children in Cook County have served 10 or fewer unique Medicaid-enrolled children. (Id.) This confirms exactly what Dr. Darling stated, that most services are being provided by a small subset of providers. Certainly each provider as Mr. Menenberg defined that term was not seeing 87 children.

Moreover, the court also takes issue with the inclusion of these so-called "safety net" providers in the equal access analysis. The inquiry is, after all, of equal access and not simply of access. The plaintiffs are entitled to the same level of medical care as is provided to children covered under private insurance. That must include mainstream medical care. Evidence at trial established that children need a medical "home" where they can be provided regular and ongoing services. (FOF PP 32, 68.) Also, in certain instances parents of children need access to their physician on nights or weekends. (FOF P 42.) Such services simply cannot be provided by these safety net providers. [*139]  Indeed, the evidence further showed that these FQHCs and public health clinics have long lines which, in some instances, may place patients in danger. (FOF PP 41, 50, 53.) That, according to several doctors, often results in patients coming to the emergency room seeking treatment for primary care. (FOF PP 52-53.) Since the plaintiffs are entitled to access equal to that of children with private insurance, the appropriate measure must be that of mainstream medical care that privately insured children are likely to receive.

Wherefore, based on the entire record, the court finds that the plaintiffs have met their burden of establishing that the defendants have violated their rights by failing to provide them with equal access to medical services. Plaintiffs simply do not have access to medical services which is equal to that of privately insured children.

B. EPSDT Provisions

The plaintiffs' claims under the EPSDT provisions take two parts. First, they allege that the defendants have failed to make "effective" efforts to inform them about the EPSDT program. Their second theory is that the defendants have failed to connect children to EPSDT services and have failed to establish [*140]  a Medicaid program designed to provide all such services to all Medicaid-enrolled children on a timely basis.

1. Effective efforts to inform
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Under 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(43)(A), a state Medicaid plan must provide for the informing of all persons under the age of 21 who are eligible for Medicaid of the availability of the EPSDT services described in 42 U.S.C. § 1396d(r) and of the need for age-appropriate immunizations against vaccine-preventable diseases. The defendants must provide for a combination of written and oral methods and must "effectively" inform all EPSDT eligible individuals (or their families) about the EPSDT program. 42 C.F.R. § 441.56.

Once again, the plaintiffs' proof in support of their argument that they have not been informed of the availability of EPSDT services and immunizations takes several different forms. The court begins with the testimony of the IDPA employees, who described many of the IDPA's procedures and practices with regard to informing Medicaid recipients of EPSDT services.

Initially, these employees documented the different ways a child can be enrolled in Medicaid [*141]  and the different notices and information provided under each method of enrollment. For example, the first method under which a child may enroll in the Medicaid program is to apply through their local IDHS office. (FOF P 122.) At this time the recipients are supposed to be informed orally by local IDHS staff about the Healthy Kids Program (which, as noted above, is the Illinois EPSDT program, see FOF P 65) and are to be given IDPA Form 1123, entitled Healthy Kids: Good Health for Children and Teens. (FOF P 123.) These recipients who apply at local IDHS offices are not provided the 89 page KidCare Handbook. (FOF PP 122-23.) Neither the IDPA nor the IDHS have (1) any policies or procedures in place to govern how oral notice is to be given to these recipients, including the content and manner of such notice; (2) any training manuals relating to advising recipients as to the Healthy Kids program; and (3) any accountability system to assure that IDHS caseworkers actually give oral notice of EPSDT services. (FOF P 123.)

A second method for enrollment in the Medicaid program is by mailing a KidCare application to the IDPA KidCare central processing unit. (FOF P 122.) A recipient who [*142]  chooses this method for enrollment will be provided a copy of the 89 page KidCare Handbook but not IDPA Form 1123. (FOF P 124.) Moreover, staff at the IDPA KidCare central processing unit do not have any duty to call persons they enroll in the Medicaid program to orally explain the EPSDT program. (Id.) IDPA has no written policy on how it orally informs children and their families of the EPSDT program or the benefits of preventive health when they are applying through the mail. (Id.)

Finally, a recipient may be enrolled in the Medicaid program by completing a KidCare application with a KidCare application agent who then sends the KidCare application to the IDPA KidCare central processing unit. (FOF P 122.) KidCare application agents are neither instructed nor required to inform applicants about the specifics of the Healthy Kids program. (FOF P 125.) There was no evidence presented that children and their families who apply for KidCare through KidCare application agents uniformly receive any appropriate oral information about the EPSDT program or the benefits of preventive health.

Also related to the issue of EPSDT notices are IDPA Forms 1802 and 2286. Form 1802 is a one-page [*143]  document sent by the IDHS Central Office annually to all children enrolled in Medicaid to inform them about the EPSDT program. (FOF P 126.) Form 2286 is sent to children prior to the due date of each periodic examination as set by the EPSDT periodicity schedule for well-child examinations. (FOF P 127.) This notice only mentions well-child exams and not blood lead screens or immunizations. (Id.) It advises plaintiffs that they "may" be due for an exam. (Id.) Neither IDPA nor IDHS disseminate information about the Healthy Kids program to children and families applying for Medicaid using any other forms. (FOF P 128.) Many Medicaid recipients never receive any of these EPSDT notices at all. (FOF P 129.) IDPA has not surveyed and does not study whether recipients receive automated notices or whether these notices are an effective way of notifying parents to take their children to medical providers. (FOF P 130.) IDPA develops all of its written EPSDT notices in-house and does not field test these forms with focus groups or other Medicaid recipient audiences. (FOF P 132.) IDPA also does not use outside linguists in developing or evaluating these materials and has not studied what [*144]  the most effective mix of oral and written material for informing recipients about EPSDT services would consist of. 18 (FOF PP 132-33.)

FOOTNOTES

18 On a related note, plaintiffs also offered evidence concerning the methods the defendants used to provide assistance to Medicaid recipients. As this evidence shows, these methods were ineffective. The parents of Medicaid enrolled children testified that the physician referral hotline administered by IDPA gave out referrals to physicians who were not even accepting Medicaid patients. (FOF P 55(a), (b) & (e).) Employees of IDPA testified that they do not investigate the capacity of physicians on the referral list to accept new patients nor do they confirm whether the physicians are even still participating in the Medicaid program. (FOF PP 152, 155-164.) The local offices administered by the IDHS, which serve as the primary personal contact that Medicaid recipients have with the state agencies, are staffed with caseworkers who offer no assistance in referring recipients to doctors. (FOF PP 159-60.)


 [*145]  Plaintiffs supplemented this testimony from the IDPA employees with testimony and an expert report from Dr. Timothy Shanahan. Dr. Shanahan was retained to analyze the EPSDT notices sent by IDPA for readability and understandability by their target audiences in Cook County. Dr. Shanahan opined that the readability of documents used for public health purposes should have difficulty levels of approximately grade four to six. (FOF P 135.) His opinion was that the IDPA's written methods for informing families about EPSDT services are ineffective because they are too difficult to read for many parents and children. (FOF PP 135-140.) He summarized by noting, "My testimony is that these documents are difficult. And if this is the only way of putting this information out, a significant portion of the population won't understand them." (FOF P 140.) Dr. Shanahan noted that when documents are especially long, or when more difficult than the reading competency among the target population, the best and only way to communicate the information is to combine oral presentations with the written material. (FOF P 136.)

Finally, plaintiffs also argue that the results of the EPSDT program, which will [*146]  be discussed more fully below, illustrate that defendants have not effectively informed them of the EPSDT services. If, plaintiffs argue, the defendants were effectively notifying them of the availability of EPSDT services, then the level of services should have been much higher than it actually turned out to be.

Weighing all of the above evidence, the court finds that plaintiffs have supplied sufficient proof showing that the defendants have not effectively informed them of the availability of EPSDT services. As the evidence showed, IDPA provided differing forms of information depending on the manner in which a recipient applied for benefits, with no apparent reason for the differences. Even when IDPA has a policy of providing oral notice to recipients, there is no practice for ensuring that such notice is effectively given and no training to suggest what effective oral notice entails. The written EPSDT notices provided by IDPA only mention well-child examinations and omit notice of lead-blood screens or immunizations. Furthermore, as the evidence at trial showed, these notices are often not received (indeed, there was no testimony from any recipient that they had in fact received [*147]  such EPSDT notices) and IDPA has never bothered studying whether these notices reach their intended audience or whether they effectively convey information about the availability of EPSDT services.

Moreover, the court finds the Expert Report and testimony of Dr. Shanahan persuasive. While defendants take issue with many of his opinions, the central premise of his testimony and report is clear. Public health documents such as those provided by defendants are often difficult documents from a readability and understandability standpoint. Informing families of EPSDT services solely on the basis of the documents provided by IDPA would be ineffective and would miss a significant portion of the target population. Thus, to effectively inform Medicaid recipients such written materials need to be supplemented by oral presentations. It is difficult for IDPA to refute this contention insofar as it has recognized as much in other scenarios. IDPA employees have stated that to attract recipients' attention "you have to have multiple methods multiple times." (FOF P 145.) Moreover, when IDPA attempted to increase the number of children enrolled in the KidCare program, IDPA used a wide variety [*148]  of methods such as public service announcements, public presentations at fairs and festivals, public presentations at community meetings, grants to community groups, radio, television, newspaper and community advocacy directed to African-American and Hispanic families, sponsorship of events such as a circus and general advertising through radio, newspaper, bus billboards, mass transit advertising and distribution of bookmarks, coloring books, crayons and other items at fairs. (Id.)

None of these methods have ever been used to inform recipients of the availability of EPSDT services. Instead, the IDPA provides different information depending on how one applies. Only under one method of application is oral guidance even supposed to be given, but no one can say how often it is given or whether it is at all. IDPA's method for informing recipients that services are due is simply to mail out notices, the readability of which has never been determined. IDPA further has no idea whether these notices reach the recipients or, if they do, whether they are even considered. This, simply put, is not effective notice of the availability of EPSDT provisions. As will be seen below, the ineffectiveness [*149]  of this notice shows up in the number of EPSDT services that plaintiffs actually receive.

2. EPSDT services
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The Medicaid Act requires states to provide Medicaid-enrolled children with certain medical services, including well-child examinations and immunizations, known as EPSDT services. See 42 U.S.C. § 1396d(r). In addition, the Medicaid Act further requires that states provide any follow-up or corrective services that may be necessary based on the results of any EPSDT screenings. See 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(43)(C). These EPSDT requirements differ from merely providing "access" to services; the Medicaid statute places affirmative obligations on states to assure that these services are actually provided to children on Medicaid in a timely and effective manner. See, e.g., Stanton v. Bond, 504 F.2d 1246, 1250 (7th Cir. 1974) ("The mandatory obligation upon each participating state to aggressively notify, seek out and screen persons under 21 in order to detect health problems and to pursue those problems with the needed treatment is made unambiguously clear by the 1967 act and by the interpretative regulations [*150]  and guidelines."). Significantly, plaintiffs do not suggest that the inquiry is whether or not some children receive EPSDT services. Certainly some do, and it would be unrealistic to hold the IDPA liable for not providing EPSDT services to every single child. Instead, plaintiffs' theory is that the IDPA has not established a Medicaid program designed to provide all EPSDT services to all Medicaid-enrolled children on a timely basis. Based on the evidence received at trial, the court agrees.
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The Medicaid Act requires states to adopt a "periodicity schedule" for screening services that "meets reasonable standards of medical and dental practice" and sets forth the stages at which recipients should receive such services. See 42 U.S.C. § 1396d(r)(1)-(4); 42 C.F.R. § 441.58. IDPA has adopted a periodicity schedule based on the recommendations of the American Academy of Pediatrics that incorporates the nationally recognized schedule for immunizations, and calls for seven appointments for well-child screenings in the first year of life, with a decreasing number of annual appointments as the child becomes older. See 89 Ill. Admin. Code § 140.488. 

 [*151]  Nearly everyone involved in this case on the defendants' side has declared, practically in unison, that the periodicity schedule is but a "recommendation." No witness for the defendants explained in great detail what this means. The court understands defendants to be suggesting that because, in their mind, the periodicity schedule is only a so-called "recommendation," it is acceptable if plaintiffs are not afforded all of these services. There is no basis for such a belief. While the American Academy of Pediatrics may have recommended a certain schedule for well-child screenings and immunizations, federal law requires states to adopt a periodicity schedule that meets reasonable standards of medical and dental practice. See 42 U.S.C. § 1396d(r)(1)-(4). In conformance with federal law, the State of Illinois adopted the recommendations of the American Academy of Pediatrics for the number and timing of well-child examinations. This periodicity schedule, therefore, is a required component of Illinois' EPSDT program. Any suggestion that it serves as a "recommendation" or that children need not be provided all such services is simply baseless.
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States [*152]  are required under the Medicaid Act to maintain data on EPSDT services provided to Medicaid-enrolled children. See 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(43)(D). The primary source of data the State of Illinois uses to measure the EPSDT services provided to children is the "paid claims" data maintained within IDPA's MMIS database. Regarding immunizations, IDPA also maintains a separate data system known as Cornerstone, which attempts to capture immunization services provided through various public health agencies. MMIS and Cornerstone are the defendants' best-available resources for determining the medical services provided to the Medicaid-enrolled children and are used by the defendants (1) for their own internal analyses of the care provided; (2) for analyzing the performance of contractors such as MCOs; and (3) for reporting requirements to the federal government.

The data contained in these databases was analyzed by Dr. Darling in both his original Expert Report and Supplemental Report. 19 He adjusted the data he was given to limit his analyses to services provided during the period of July 1, 1998 to December 31, 2001 (the "Data Period"). (Pl. Ex. 118 at 4-6.) Exclusions [*153]  made within the data given to Dr. Darling were explained in his report. For example, to limit the entries to the Data Period he was examining, Dr. Darling deleted eligibility records for recipients (1) who were born after December 31, 2001; (2) who were first eligible for Medicaid after December 31, 2001; and (3) with certain anomalous records where an eligibility date preceded the recipient's date of birth. Id. These adjustments reduced the number of unique recipients from 957,710 to 910,451. (Id.) Dr. Darling deleted those entries with a date of service after December 31, 2001 and all service records for which no matching recipient could be found in the adjusted eligibility data. (Id. at 6.)

FOOTNOTES

19 Discovery in this case can best be described as a difficult process. In August 2002, the defendants provided the plaintiffs the data from MMIS. The defendants represented in their discovery responses that the data consisted of "all encounter data for children involved in this action." (Pl. Ex. 116, Ex. B.) This representation was never amended by the defendants. Dr. Darling performed his analysis based on this data and prepared his original report. That report was tendered to the defendants on March 3, 2003. In June 2003, the defendants tendered Mr. Menenberg's report to the plaintiffs. Mr. Menenberg's report analyzed not only the MMIS data but also additional data from the IDHS Cornerstone database. The Cornerstone data, however, was not provided to the plaintiffs until May 30, 2003, more than 45 days after the defendants provided this data to Mr. Menenberg, three months after Dr. Darling completed his initial report and about two weeks before the defendants turned over Mr. Menenberg's report. Indeed, as one of his critiques of Dr. Darling's analysis, Mr. Menenberg asserted that Dr. Darling's analysis was flawed because it did not take into account the Cornerstone data, which neither Dr. Darling nor the plaintiffs had even been provided. Plaintiffs were granted leave by Magistrate Judge Martin Ashman to supplement Dr. Darling's analysis to account for this Cornerstone data and to address other criticisms made by Mr. Menenberg. Both Dr. Darling's original Expert Report and his Supplemental Report were accepted into evidence at trial.


 [*154]  In his initial report, Dr. Darling also adjusted the data to limit his analyses to services provided to recipients who were continuously Medicaid-eligible during the time periods he analyzed. (Id. at 6-8.) Dr. Darling explained that he did this for two reasons. First, he stated that the State had more limited opportunities to provide services to non-continuously eligible children and, second, because these recipients could have received unrecorded services while not covered under Medicaid. (Id. at 6-8.) This adjustment reduced the number of recipients analyzed from 910,451 to 818,019, a reduction of just under 10%. (Id.) In response to Mr. Menenberg's criticism of this continuously-eligible limitation, in his Supplemental Report Dr. Darling later reran his analysis including all 910,451 recipients and his overall results were very similar. (Pl. Ex. 119.)

Significantly, through his analysis Dr. Darling set out to determine the level of services that had been provided to Medicaid-enrolled children in Cook County on a timely basis. Therefore, he established age ranges in order to capture whether or not services were being provided to the plaintiffs in accordance with the [*155]  Illinois periodicity schedule. For example, according to the periodicity schedule a child should receive 6 screening services after leaving the hospital and prior to one year of age (at 2 weeks, 1 month, 2 months 4 months, 6 months and 9 months). To evaluate the extent to which such services were actually received. Dr. Darling analyzed the services given to children between the ages of 10 days and 11 months. 20 Similarly, to evaluate whether children were receiving appropriate screenings services due at 12 months, 15 months and 18 months, Dr. Darling analyzed Services received by children between 11 and 23 months. Dr. Darling conducted additional analyses of the well-child services provided to Medicaid-enrolled children in Cook County through age five.

FOOTNOTES

20 Dr. Darling explained why his analysis was limited to children between the ages of 10 days and 11 months. This limitation is discussed in FOF PP 72 and 82.


Based on this methodology, Dr. Darling showed that more than half of the children between 10 days and [*156]  11 months, who should have received six screening services, received none. Even under the IDPA's broader definition of a "well-child" examination, which includes a five- minute exam with only a nurse, Dr. Darling showed that approximately 45% of children received no well-child exams during this period. In addition, nearly 60% of children between the ages of 11 and 23 months received zero well-child exams, and over 70% received zero well-child exams between 23 and 35 months and between 25 and 47 months.

In his Supplemental Report, Dr. Darling added the non-continuously eligible recipients. Concerning well-child exams, adding these non-continuously eligible recipients yielded only negligible changes of no more than 2%. (PI. Ex. 119 at 2-20.) In his Supplemental Report Dr. Darling also re-analyzed immunization data to include information from the Cornerstone database. With this data included, the records showed that with respect to every immunization analyzed, roughly 50% or more of the eligible recipients had not received a timely immunization. (P1. Ex. 119 at 21-26.)

In addition to the testimony and reports of Dr. Darling, the plaintiffs also looked at Cook County-specific reports [*157]  prepared by the State showing the number of EPSDT services provided to children. These Cook County-specific reports are prepared in the same manner and with the same data as the statewide CMS-416 reports submitted to the federal government under 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(43)(D).

The methodology used in creating these reports overstates the actual level of EPSDT services provided. For example, for purposes of the CMS-416 forms IDPA counts many types of doctor visits that do not and cannot comply with EPSDT well-child screening criteria, including short visits where a patient may not even see a doctor. (FOF P 105.) These reports also count well-child exams received by children far in excess of the number of exams required under the Illinois periodicity schedule (FOF P # 104(a)), and use a cut-off date of September 30 to establish a child's age, even though this makes it seem as though a child has received all of his or her screens when he or she may have received less than half of them. (FOF P 104(b) & (c).)

Even though overstated, the Cook County specific reports show that the level of EPSDT services provided to children are inadequate. These forms show that for [*158]  the years 2000 through 2002, approximately one-third of Medicaid-enrolled children in Cook County did not receive any well-child screening services and 75% did not receive a dental screening.. (FOF PP 107-08.) Based on this data, IDPA notified the MCOs providing services to children in Cook County that each was failing to meet the participation requirements set for a in their contractual "minimum standard of care." (FOF PP 109, 117.)

In response to this evidence, the defendants (1) attempt to impugn the very data they tendered in discovery and which they submit to the federal government and (2) rely on Mr. Menenberg's critiques of Dr. Darling's methodology. Concerning argument (1), according to defendants, the "paid claims" used in MMIS and Cornerstone databases underreport the number of services provided to the plaintiffs. Because the data are underreported, defendants submit that Dr. Darling's analyses must be flawed. For example, defendants argue (a) that encounter data may not be submitted by physicians to particular MCOs and, therefore, may not be submitted to the IDPA; (b) that large numbers of MCO encounter data may be rejected by the IDPA because the encounter data does not [*159]  meet the edits of the claims processing system; (c) that because FQHCs billings are based on an encounter rate, which includes all services provided to a child for that day, and because the services on the encounter line are often limited to one service, the FQHCs do not provide an accurate measure of the services a child received during a visit; and (d) that other providers in IDPA's provider network provide services to Medicaid eligible children but may or may not bill for these services or may or may not list all services provided in a particular encounter.

These arguments are unpersuasive. Initially, most are based only on speculation. No witness with direct personal knowledge testified as to the operation of the entities the defendants claim provide services to Medicaid-enrolled children but do not bill or otherwise report such data to IDPA. In fact, much of the evidence showed that the types of entities defendants discuss do bill the IDPA for services they provided and were, therefore, analyzed by Dr. Darling. Exhibit 12 to Mr. Menenberg's report sets forth a list, derived from the State's MMIS data of providers that Provided EPSDT services, that includes FQHCs, encounter rate [*160]  clinics, health departments and school based/linked health clinics.

Moreover, with regard to FQHCs, no witness verified or even testified that FQHC's might perform two or more well-child services but only provide the procedure code for one. Testimony showed that FQHCs bill for each encounter according to a CPT-code, and there is no evidence to support the speculation that if the FQHC was providing a well-child examination, it would not identify the appropriate CPT-code for that encounter.

As for the MCOs, which serve less than 20% of the plaintiffs, defendants argue that because doctors are normally paid on a capitated basis, they would have no incentive to record each service they provided to the plaintiffs. No evidence was presented on how to estimate or quantify such a purported understatement, and the defendants acknowledged that their contracts with the MCOs require that MCOs bill for every encounter. (FOF P 112.) Moreover, only a portion of the doctors enrolled in MCOs are paid on a capitated basis. (FOF P 110.) Thus, in essence, the defendants argue that only some fraction of those doctors fail to bill appropriately. This evidence is simply unpersuasive.

With regard to public [*161]  health clinics and school-based clinics, once again no witness testified concerning the billing practices at such clinics or whether underbilling of services would exist. Instead, Mr. Menenberg's report shows that public health clinics and school-based clinics do bill IDPA for services provided and their billing information is in the MMIS data.

Finally, and more fundamentally, Dr. Darling's analysis provides the opportunity to examine the actual level of the shortfall in the number of services that should have been provided to the plaintiffs and whether, realistically, those services could have been provided without anyone billing the IDPA. As will be seen, to support the defendants' argument, there would have to be more free services provided than services actually billed.

Dr. Darling's Table 1 in his March 3, 2003 report shows of 112,512 children who should have received 6 well-child screening services, 58,794 received zero and 10,508 received one. Comparing the number of services that were provided to these children with the number of services that would have been billed had all 112,512 children in this age group received all 6 scheduled screenings shows that during the period [*162]  of July 1, 1998 through December 31,2001, only approximately 170,000 out of a total of over 675,000 scheduled EPSDT services were received by children from 10 days to 11 months of age. This represents a shortfall of over 500,000 services.

Applying this analysis to the continuously Medicaid-eligible children through age 5 that Dr. Darling analyzed, IDPA records reflect approximately 330,000 services were given out of a total of more than 1.2 million services that should have been given. Thus, children under 5 received almost 900,000 fewer well-child examinations than called for by the Illinois periodicity schedule.

For the defendants to argue that the number of services listed above are provided somewhere by someone who does not bill the IDPA is sheer fantasy. There was absolutely no evidence brought forth corroborating such a theory and, quite simply, it strains the imagination to believe that this many services are provided for free by some provider the IDPA cannot even name. As defendants point out, even if the MMIS and Cornerstone data were underreported to a significant degree, the level of services provided to the plaintiffs is inadequate. The court finds defendants' arguments [*163]  attacking their very own data which, once again, is submitted to the federal government as required by federal law, to be completely unpersuasive.

Defendants' reliance on Mr. Menenberg's critiques of Dr. Darling's methodology fares no better. Mr. Menenberg lodged a variety of attacks on the methodology of Dr. Darling, but all ultimately fail. First and foremost, Dr. Darling and Mr. Menenberg took two separate approaches, and Mr. Menenberg's analysis, as it relates to the provision of EPSDT services, is unhelpful. While Dr. Darling examined the medical services provided to the plaintiffs within certain age groups to assess whether EPSDT services have been provided on a timely basis, Mr. Menenberg measured all services provided to the plaintiffs to measure whether children have access (not equal access) to services. 21 This did not address nor undercut Dr. Darling's analysis in any way. Mr. Menenberg himself conceded that he was not comparing his analysis to the Illinois periodicity schedule and that Dr. Darling's analysis "might" be helpful in that regard. (Menenberg Trial Tr. at 1306:3-9.)

FOOTNOTES

21 Even assuming that Mr. Menenberg's analysis had relevance to the EPSDT provisions; which it does not, plaintiffs persuasively point out that Mr. Menenberg's results overstate the level of access to services. For example, Mr: Menenberg included every visit to a doctor, such as well-child visits, sick child visits and trips to the emergency room or to a "safety net" clinic for an acute condition. This is not relevant toward the question of whether children are able to obtain regular well-child care. Mr. Menenberg also excluded all children that became eligible for Medicaid prior to July 1, 1998, even though he admitted he had all of the encounter information for these children within the Data Period. As plaintiffs point out, under Mr. Menenberg's analysis the defendants' position in this case would be better if the average number of visits to doctors were as high as possible. By excluding children eligible before July 1, 1998, Mr. Menenberg's analysis by its nature includes every child that should have received seven exams during the Data Period and excludes virtually all of the children who should have received one. Thus, nearly all If the children that would increase the number of examinations were included in Mr. Menenberg's analysis while he eliminated those that would lower the number of exams.


 [*164]  Mr. Menenberg also attacked Dr. Darling's report and testimony in several other respects (many of which were introduced for the first time at trial). For example, Mr. Menenberg argued that Dr. Darling's methodology was flawed because Dr. Darling only addressed those children who were entirely within the studied age ranges during the Data Period.22 .Mr. Menenberg argued that because of this exclusion Dr. Darling did not consider anywhere between 660,000 and 742,000 services provided to the children.

FOOTNOTES

22 Plaintiffs presented the following example of Dr. Darling's exclusion. A child born March 1, 1998 would be excluded from Dr. Darling's analysis because that child was not both 10 days and 11 months old during the Data Period. Instead, the child would have been 4 months old at the start of the Data Period.


Mr. Menenberg's critique, however, once again focused on looking at the total number of services provided. As plaintiffs have repeatedly pointed out, Dr. Darling's analyses examined something separate, that being [*165]  the percentages of children-who were receiving timely EPSDT services in accordance with the periodicity schedule. If Dr. Darling were to have included these partial year increments, his analysis would have been inaccurate for showing the total number of services that were provided according to the Illinois periodicity schedule. 23 Mr. Menenberg and Dry. Darling took separate approaches and Mr. Menenberg's criticisms never fully account for what exactly Dr. Darling was attempting to show. As such, the court finds these criticisms unpersuasive.

FOOTNOTES

23 If Dr. Darling had included these children in his analysis, the most services that a child born on March 1, 1998 could have received would have been three, even if the child had received all six scheduled services on a timely basis. Including such children would have understated the percentage of children receiving proper numbers of timely EPSDT services.


Based on the entire record, the court finds that the plaintiffs have shown that they are not being provided EPSDT [*166]  services under the defendants' State Plan and that the defendants are in violation of federal law. The IDPA has not established a Medicaid program designed to provide all EPSDT services to all Medicaid-enrolled children on a timely basis.

CONCLUSION

For all of the reasons set forth above, the court declares that the defendants' policies and practices have violated and are violating the rights of the plaintiffs under 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A) and the EPSDT provisions. This case will be called for status on September 14, 2004 at 9:30 a.m. to discuss further proceedings relating to an appropriate injunction to remedy the defendants' violations. Furthermore, the plaintiffs are awarded their costs and reasonable attorneys' fees, the amount of which to be determined upon entry of final judgment in accordance with Local Rule 54.3. It is so ordered.

Enter:

JOAN HUMPHREY LEFKOW

United States District Judge

Dated: August 23, 2004 
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